## SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No: SC 00-1111

**MUBEN-LAMAR, L.P.**, a New Jersey Limited Partnership,

Petitioner,

vs.

## **DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE**,

Respondent.

## PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Larry E. Levy Fla Bar No. 047019 The Levy Law Firm 1828 Riggins Road Tallahassee, Florida 32308 850/219-0220

William J. Deas Fla Bar No. 018764 Post Office Box 40004 Jacksonville, Florida 32203-0004 904/387-9292

Counsel for appellant **

## STATEMENT OF TYPE SIZE AND STYLE

The undersigned counsel for petitioner certifies that the type size and style used in petitioner's brief on the merits is 14 Times New Roman.

## **PRELIMINARY STATEMENT**

Petitioner, Muben-Lamar, L.P., will be referred to herein as "Muben-Lamar." Respondent, Department of Revenue, will be referred to herein as the "department." References to the record on appeal will be delineated as (R-volume # - page #).

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This case involves a challenge to a documentary stamp tax assessment. (R-I-01-13) Muben-Lamar is a New Jersey limited partnership, and the department is a state agency responsible for the administration of chapter 201, Florida Statutes (2000). (R-I-01) Muben-Lamar filed a complaint seeking refund of documentary stamp tax paid in the total amount of \$207,561.15, involving transfers of three separate parcels of improved real property located in Florida. (R-I-01)

Prior to filing suit, Muben-Lamar had filed an application for refund of such amount with the department and, by letter, the department notified Muben-Lamar that its application was being denied. (R-I-02; I-05-06) Muben-Lamar then filed a written protest with the department as authorized and, by letter dated November 22, 1995, the department issued its official "Notice of Decision of Refund Denial" denying the request. (R-I-02; I-07-13) Thereafter, suit was timely filed. (Id.) Thereafter the department filed its answer to the complaint, admitting that the court had jurisdiction but denying that Muben-Lamar was entitled to a refund. (R-I-14-16)

After discovery, which included the deposition of a representative of Muben-Lamar, William E. Weiss, both parties filed motions for summary judgment. (R-II-272-287; III-293-327; III-342-372) After hearing the trial court granted the department's motion for summary judgment and entered the final summary judgment prepared by the department. (R-III-448-458; A-1) Notice of appeal to the First District Court of Appeal was timely filed. (R-III-459-460)

After oral argument, the district court rendered its decision upholding the department's assessment, but acknowledging that its decision was in conflict with <u>Kuro, Inc. v. Department of Revenue</u>, 713 So.2d 1021 (Fla. 2d DCA 1998). <u>Muben-Lamar, L.P. v. Department of Revenue</u>, 25 Fla. L. Weekly D994 (Fla. 1st DCA Apr. 20, 2000). Thereafter, Muben-Lamar filed its notice to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court together with its jurisdictional brief. On November 9, 2000, this Court issued its order accepting jurisdiction, setting a brief schedule, and scheduling oral argument.

### **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

Muben-Lamar is a New Jersey limited partnership created under the laws of the State of New Jersey for the sole purpose of holding title to and managing the three properties located in Florida, the transfers of which gave rise to the documentary stamp tax for which refund is sought. William E. Weiss, who was the deponent at the instance of the department, is the Second Vice President of the MBL Life Assurance Corporation, Inc. (MBL Life) and MBL Life is the assignee of the assets and certain prescribed liabilities of the Mutual Benefit Life Insurance Company (Mutual Benefit), which was a life insurance company incorporated under the laws of the State of New Jersey. (R-II-92-94; R-III-328-333)

Mutual Benefit was experiencing financial difficulties as a result of the depressed real estate market. The three parcels of improved commercial property, which gave rise to the documentary stamp tax liability for which refund is sought, were owned by Mutual Benefit, having been acquired by Mutual Benefit as a result of foreclosures or deeds in lieu of foreclosure. (R-III-328-333) At the time of foreclosure or deeds in lieu of foreclosure, Mutual Benefit paid all applicable documentary stamp tax on the certificates of title or deeds based on the book value (principal unpaid indebtedness) of said properties. (R-III-331)

The purpose of forming Muben-Lamar was to hold legal title to the properties acquired by the foreclosure with the same economic and beneficial interest remaining in Mutual Benefit with the exception that the properties were now treated as partnership assets on the books of Mutual Benefit. (R-III-331) Mutal Benefit believed that it could improve the performance of the properties by bringing in a professional property management company given an equity interest in the properties who, by the very nature of being a partner, would have more

incentive to devote the time, resources, and energy to the management of the properties of Mutual Benefit. (R-III-331-332) Accordingly, Muben-Lamar was created for the purpose of holding legal title to the property and managing same until such time as a sale could be made. The three partners of Muben-Lamar were:

<u>Partner</u>	<u>Interest</u>
Mutual Benefit Life Insurance Company (limited partner)	98%
Muben Realty Company (general partner)	1%
Lamar Eastern, L.P. (general partner)	1%

(R-II-99-100; R-III-330) Muben Realty was 100 percent owned by a holding company, Mutual Benefit Life Insurance Co. Holding Corporation, held by Mutual Benefit.

The involved three properties were shopping centers and commercial office buildings and Mutual Benefit, which was a life insurance company, felt that professional management of such properties after foreclosure was necessary in order to attempt to realize a profit from the properties and manage same soundly until such time as the real estate market rebounded and the properties could be sold, and that Lamar Eastern could supply such management. Muben-Lamar is a limited partnership formed by an agreement dated

December 31, 1990, described as follows:

Organization: Muben-Lamar, L.P., a New Jersey limited partnership (the "Partnership"), was formed on December 31, 1990, and owns five rental properties. The general partners are Muben Realty Company ("Muben"), a New Jersey corporation, and Lamar-Eastern, L.P. ("Lamar"), a Delaware limited partnership. The limited partner is the Mutual Benefit Life Insurance Company in Rehabilitation ("Mutual Benefit"), a New Jersey corporation. Muben is an indirect, wholly-owned subsidiary of Mutual Benefit.

Notes to Financial Statement dated December 31, 1991. (R-II-89-269, exhibit to

deposition of William Weiss and Brian Loreti) When formed, the initial

capitalization was as follows:

The initial capital contribution of Mutual Benefit and Muben are the real properties described in Note 1. The initial capital contribution of Lamar is equal to 1% of the initial capital contribution, as defined, of Mutual Benefit and Muben. In accordance with contribution options under the Agreement, Lamar has elected to contribute a \$280,160, ten year, non-interest bearing promissory note in lieu of a cash contribution.

Notes to Financial Statement dated December 31, 1991. (Id.)

Immediately after formation of the limited partnership, title to the

three parcels of properties was transferred from Mutual Benefit to the partnership

created, and a management agreement executed. The creation of the limited

partnership and the transfer of title was to provide for the operation and management of the shopping center and office buildings, and the ultimate sale of said properties pursuant to the management agreement.

The documentary stamp taxes paid for which refund is sought were paid on the transfers of the shopping centers and office buildings, two of which are located in Dade County, Florida, and the third of which is located in Volusia County, Florida. At the time of the transfer, there were no mortgages on any of the properties and the transferee (limited partnership - Muben-Lamar, L.P.) paid nothing for said properties, either by way of money, assumption of any mortgages, or any other consideration. (The department contends that the interests in the partnership constitutes consideration but the transferor already held its equity interest at the time of the transfer and through the partnership interest held or controlled a 99 percent equity interest afterward.) The department assessed documentary stamp taxes based on the amount bid by Mutual Benefit at a foreclosure sale as the basis for the value of the properties, which was the book value, plus costs. This "value" is used for the documentary stamp tax assessment. The partnership agreement was executed on December 31, 1990, and all the deeds transferring the properties were executed on December 31, 1990. (R-II-102-103)

Mutual Benefit acquired the subject properties by assignment from MBL Life pursuant to state insurance rehabilitation proceedings under New Jersey law. MBL Life had had sizeable investments in a real estate portfolio by making loans secured by mortgages, and the loans on each of the involved properties were part of these investments. Each of these mortgage loans went into default in the real estate recession which began during the middle to late 1980's, and as a result of the defaults, Mutual Benefit ultimately foreclosed each mortgage. (R-II-96)

In the process of foreclosure, Mutual Benefit bid the properties in at the respective foreclosure sales for the unpaid principal balance of each mortgage loan plus expenses and costs and, at the same time, paid the applicable documentary stamp tax on each certificate of title. (R-II-117-118) This was Mutual Benefit's standard procedure on Florida commercial mortgage foreclosures. Upon acquisition of the properties by Mutual Benefit, the mortgages ceased to exist. The department contends that documentary stamp tax is due based on the value of the properties which it assumes to be the value as bid by Mutual Benefit at foreclosure. In deposition, Mr. William E. Weiss testified that he could just as easily have bid in the properties for \$100.00 but that the company practice was to bid the unpaid principal balance. (R-II-119)

Mutual Benefit, generally feeling that it lacked the requisite special expertise to manage and rehabilitate certain types of foreclosure properties and ready them for sale at the best possible prices, formed different partnerships to hold legal title to the properties and manage same. (R-II-111) It brought into the partnerships professional property management companies as partners, giving such companies an equity interest in the partnerships to create a real economic incentive to upgrade the foreclosed property so as to obtain the maximum re-sale price for each and to manage them profitably until sold. The purpose of the transfers to the partnership was to benefit Mutual Benefit by enhancing the value of its indirect ownership of the properties utilizing the partnership entity as a vehicle to do so.

At the time, the properties were transferred from Mutual Benefit to the partnership were unencumbered, free and clear of any mortgages, liens, or other encumbrances, and the original Mutual Benefit mortgage had been extinguished as an incident to the foreclosures. (R-II-106-107) Documentary stamp taxes in amounts equal to the then applicable book value (unpaid principal balance) of the properties were paid on the deeds with the added notation that such were being paid under protest. (R-II-123)

## **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

Muben-Lamar contends that no documentary stamp tax is due on the transfers of the three commercial properties located in Florida. No legal consideration flowed from Muben-Lamar to the transferor. It is undisputed that no cash was paid, there was no mortgage or other encumbrance on the property, and that the sole purpose of the transfer of the property was to provide for the management of the three parcels of property after the properties were acquired through foreclosure until such time as the real estate market recovered and the properties could be profitably sold. No economic benefit flowed to the transferor and no economic burden was assumed by the transferee.

The effect of the transfer was to place legal title in the partnership to profitably manage same for the transferor. The partnership was "just an empty papershell, a paper entity but for the assets being contributed." (R-II-107) On the date of its creation it had no assets and no liabilities. <u>Id.</u>

Muben-Lamar's contentions may be divided into two parts as follows:

A. Section 201.02(1), as amended in 1990, does not authorize the documentary stamp tax on the transfer of the three involved properties; and

B. Florida Administrative Code Rules 12B-4.012(2)(a) and 12B-4.013(1)(10), implementing chapter 90-132, Laws of Florida, are invalid and over broad in that by said rules the department attempts to change the concept of "purchaser" and "consideration," and impose a new tax not mentioned in the title or authorized in the body of said law based on the value of that being transferred instead of that given or paid as consideration for the transfer.

The department contends that real property contributions-in-aid-ofcapital (CIAC) where no mortgage exists are now, for the first time, rendered taxable by the 1990 amendment and its rules. CIAC is <u>not mentioned</u> in the title or body of the 1990 law, and appears only in the department's rules.

Prior to the 1990 amendment, "consideration" paid by the purchaser was measured by what the purchaser paid to the seller or what financial burden of the seller was shifted. For the <u>first</u> time, the department is now contending that <u>that which is transferred by the transferor is the basis for consideration</u>, even if the transferee/purchaser gave nothing and assumed no debt or burden. <u>This is a new</u> <u>tax.</u>

Muben-Lamar's position is that the situation in the case at bar is controlled by the principles originally applied in <u>Department of Revenue v.</u> <u>DeMaria</u>, 338 So.2d 838 (Fla. 1976), and <u>State ex rel. Palmer-Florida Corp. v.</u> <u>Green</u>, 88 So.2d 493 (Fla. 1956), recognized in <u>Department of Revenue v. Race</u>, 743 So.2d 169 (Fla. 5th DCA 1999), and <u>Kuro</u>, and since 1953 followed many times in cases involving documentary stamp taxes. Muben-Lamar further contends that the pivotal language in section 201.02 has remained unchanged since 1931, and was unchanged in the 1990 amendment.

The department's position is that <u>Kuro</u> was improperly decided and that a 1990 amendment to section 201.02(1), and the department's rule implementing same, provide the legal basis for concluding that the equity interest in the limited partnership which was created for the sole purpose of holding title to this property and providing for the management of same, constitutes consideration, supporting the imposition of documentary stamp tax based on the "fair market value" of the property. The department admits, however, that it never made any attempt to determine what was the fair market value of the properties and simply assumed that the amount of documentary stamp tax paid under protest at the time of recordation, which was based on the amount bid at foreclosure, supports the basis for the determination of the amount of tax due.

The testimony was undisputed that when the properties were acquired by foreclosure and certificates of title issued pursuant to the foreclosure actions, that Mr. William E. Weiss, who bid the properties for the lender at foreclosure, merely bid in the outstanding principal balance of the loans. His testimony was that he could probably have acquired the property just as easily by bidding \$100.00 because there was no one else to bid. (R-II-119) The point is, a price bid at foreclosure certainly does not necessarily reflect the fair market value of the property being foreclosed and is totally unrelated to that given by a transferee.

To support documentary stamp tax imposition, the statute requires that there be a "purchaser." Here, there was no purchaser as such term is used in the statute. The evidence is undisputed that Muben-Lamar was a limited partnership created under the laws of the State of New Jersey after the properties were acquired by Mutual Benefit through foreclosure for the sole purpose of holding legal title of the subject properties thereafter. The partnership document, deed transfers, and management agreement were all executed on December 31, 1990. The partnership agreement provided that the three partners, consisting of the two general partners, and the one limited partner which was Mutual Benefit, had the respective interests in the partnership of Muben Realty Company - 1 percent, and Lamar Eastern, L.P. - 1 percent, and the limited partner which had owned the property outright prior to the transfer, Mutual Benefit - 98 percent.

The testimony also was undisputed that the partnership was created so that Lamar Eastern, the general partner who would be managing and operating the property, would have additional incentive to exert every effort to manage the property profitably and, at the time of the sale, to try to realize the best possible price. The others were not in the real estate management business. This is <u>not</u> a situation where the transferee is giving anything new to the transferor.

Neither the statute as it existed prior to 1990, nor as it exists after the 1990 amendment, altered or changed the requirement that there must be consideration flowing from a transferee (purchaser) to a transferor to support imposition of documentary stamp tax. The statutory amendment simply does not support the rule or the department's interpretation of it and this was specifically noted in <u>Kuro and Race</u>.

#### ARGUMENT

NO DOCUMENTARY STAMP TAX IS DUE ON THE TRANSFERS OF THE THREE PARCELS OF PROPERTY INVOLVED BECAUSE THERE EXISTS NO "PURCHASER" OR "CONSIDERATION" AS REQUIRED BY SECTION 201.02, FLORIDA STATUTES (1997).

A. Section 201.02(1), Florida Statutes (1997), neither before nor after 1990 authorized the documentary stamp tax on the transfers of the three properties involved.

The department contends that the 1990 amendment to section 201.02(1) through chapter 90-132, and its rules adopted implementing same support the imposition of documentary stamp tax on contributions-in-aid-of-capital. (CIAC). There have been four cases where the department's new rules were before the courts which are: <u>Race, Kuro, In Re: The Petition of Helen</u> <u>Gladman</u>, 693 So.2d 34 (Fla. 1st DCA 1997), which was a per curiam decision affirming a declaratory statement issued by the department, and <u>Department of</u> <u>Revenue v. Ray Constr. of Okaloosa County</u>, 667 So.2d 859 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996). As the Court well knows, a per curiam decision with no written opinion has no precedential value. <u>See Department of Legal Affairs v. District Court of Appeal</u>, 434 So.2d 310 (Fla. 1983); <u>State Comm'n on Ethics v. Sullivan</u>, 430 So.2d 298 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983); <u>ACME Speciality Corp. v. City of Miami</u>, 292 So.2d 379

(Fla. 3d DCA 1974). Both Race and Kuro disagreed with the department's

interpretation of the statute after the 1990 amendment, and in both instances held

that the involved transfers were not taxable notwithstanding that a transfer of real

property or interest therein had occurred. Ray Constr. involved dissimilar facts

but the court also rejected the department's statutory interpretation and

assessment.

In <u>Race</u>, the court set forth the position of the department as follows:

The Department argues that the assessment is proper under section 201.02(1), which provides for the imposition of documentary stamp taxes on deeds and other instruments at the time they are recorded. Prior to the statute's 1990 amendment, the definition of "consideration" was a creature of case law. However, the 1990 amendment added language listing certain instruments as consideration for which documentary stamp taxes are due. It provides:

> For purposes of this section, consideration includes, but is not limited to, the money paid or agreed to be paid; the discharge of an obligation; and the amount of any mortgage, purchase money mortgage lien, or other encumbrance, whether or not the underlying indebtedness is assumed. . . . .

<u>The Department argues that prior case law is no longer</u> <u>applicable to define the term "consideration." The</u> <u>statute clearly includes the amount of a purchase money</u> <u>mortgage lien, assumed or not. However, the statute also</u> <u>specifies that consideration "is not limited to" the listed</u> instruments. We therefore conclude that case law has not been completely abrogated in this area.

Race, 743 So.2d at 170 (emphasis added.) Thereafter, the court stated:

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