SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MUBEN LAMAR, L.P., a New Jersey Limited Partnership,

Petitioner,

vs.

CASE NO. SC 00-1111

STATE OF FLORIDA, DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE,

Respondent.

ON CERTIORARI REVIEW TO RESOLVE EXPRESS AND DIRECT CONFLICT BETWEEN DECISIONS OF THE DISTRICT COURTS OF APPEAL

·

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

RESPECTFULLY,

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

Jeffrey M. Dikman Fla. Bar #274224 Assistant Attorney General Department of Legal Affairs The Capitol-Tax Section Tallahassee, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 Counsel for Respondent

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

PETITIONER'S FALL-BACK VALUATION ARGUMENT

Perhaps sensing the weakness in its position that "no" consideration exists, Petitioner raises interesting fall back arguments, regarding valuation. First, on page 19 of its Brief on the Merits, Petitioner suggests that only 1 percent of the transaction should be taxed, because the grantor retained a 99% limited partnership interest, and retained some degree of indirect control over the partnership.

However, even if, arguendo, the 99% limited partner (as opposed to the <u>general</u> partner) legally controlled Petitioner's affairs, 16 this argument ignores both the language of the statute and the substance of the transaction. The statute clearly provides that where property other than money is given in exchange for realty, "consideration" is presumed to be equal to the value of the land. The statute does not provide that consideration is presumed to be equal to 1% of the value of the land. Moreover, the grantor did not sell a 1% interest in land; it sold a 100% interest in land in exchange for partnership shares.

Petitioner's second fall-back valuation argument appears on page 23 of its Brief on the Merits. There, Petitioner suggests that the \$22,890,391 "consideration" amount, consistently given

¹⁶In a limited partnership, control is exercised by the general partner(s) and not by the limited partner(s). This is why limited partners are protected from liability.

on Petitioner's own documentary stamp tax returns, in the partnership agreement, and in federal income tax return filings, may have been inflated. According to Petitioner, the three shopping centers might have been worth as little as \$100.

Petitioner's valuation argument is unsupported by competent substantial evidence. These are the facts:

- (1) the Department had accepted Petitioner's <u>own</u> documentary stamp tax return valuation, at \$22,890,391; R:III;451.
- (2) these valuations also appeared on federal income tax returns and in the partnership agreement capital account contribution schedule; R:III;451.
- (3) Petitioner produced no appraisals indicating that its own return figures were incorrect, and; R:III;384-447.
- (4) Petitioner's <u>own witness</u> expressly stated that he was <u>not</u> advancing this position. R:II;120.

Given these facts, the Trial Court correctly found, in its Final Judgment, that the "Department was entitled to rely upon Plaintiff's reported valuations, and the Department does not challenge these valuations. There is no genuine valuation issue in dispute." R:III:451.

Petitioner's arguments and hypotheticals on pages 24-26 of its Brief, concerning the *alleged* way in which the Department approaches valuation controversies, misses the point: there simply was no valuation controversy in this case. The Department

accepted Petitioner's own valuation figures, in the absence of better information.

Petitioner erroneously argues, on page 24 of its Brief on the Merits, that the "department's position focuses on the value of the property transferred, instead of the value of that given for the transfer. It assumes the value of that received to be equal to that given" (Emphasis per original).

But the only issue in this case was whether there was consideration, not how much. As the Trial Court correctly determined, there was no genuine valuation issue in this case. The Department just relied upon Petitioner's own valuation figures.

The Department further takes issue with the statement, on page 24 of Petitioner's Brief, that the statute's valuation presumption is the "department's position." To begin with, the Department took no "position" on valuation other than to accept Petitioner's own valuation figures. Additionally, by referring to the valuation presumptions in the statute as the "department's" position, Petitioner is refusing to acknowledge the Legislature's role in creating the statutory presumption in question:

If the consideration paid or given in exchange for real property or any interest therein includes property other than money, it is presumed that the consideration is equal to the fair market value of the real property or interest therein.

Section 201.02(1), Fla. Stat.

It is important to point out that the Department does <u>not</u> consider <u>all</u> transactions between artificial entities to be taxable. For example, if a corporation were to deed unencumbered land to a recognized charitable organization, for no benefit other than the resulting federal income tax deduction, the Department's rules in no way suggest that such a transaction would be taxable.

Similarly, in the cases when an individual transfers unencumbered real estate to a son or daughter, for "love and affection," the Department's rules create no presumption that consideration exists. But where, as in the case at bar, consideration does exist, the Department cannot waive the statute's imposition of tax merely because the transaction involved consideration other than money.

The Department's rule position recognizes that consideration need not be in the form of money or debt instruments. This is consistent with the plain language of Section 201.02(1), Florida Statutes (1991), which acknowledges that "consideration" need not be cash.

PETITIONER'S OTHER FALL-BACK ARGUMENTS

Petitioner also argues that the transaction is somehow exempt from taxation solely because it was motivated by a legitimate business purpose: providing for management of the

property. The problem with this argument is that the Legislature has not passed an exemption whereby tax can be avoided merely because it achieves some reasonable objective of corporate management. It must be remembered that the purpose of tax laws is to raise revenue for governmental operations, and that the creation of such an exemption would be a legislative function, and not a judicial function.¹⁷

The last fall-back argument raised by the Petitioner in the first part of its brief is that the tax could have been avoided through the usage of a trust, rather than a limited partnership. This argument must fail. The choice of business entity almost always involves tax consequences. Moreover, taxpayers have historically been taxed based upon the way in which their transactions were structured, rather than based upon how things might have been structured differently. Department of Revenue v. McCoy Motel, Inc., 302 So.2d 440, 442 (Fla. 1st DCA 1974), appeal dismissed, 307 So.2d 448 (Fla.1974); Marks v. Green, 122 So. 2d 491 (Fla. 1st DCA 1960).

Moreover, whereas a trust is intended, as a matter of law,

¹⁷A majority of the documentary stamp tax is used to fund the Land Acquisition Trust Fund, purchase coastal lands and pay debt service to acquire coastal land, and to fund the Water Management Lands Trust Fund, State Housing Trust Fund, Local Government Housing Trust Fund, Florida Housing Finance Agency and the General Revenue Fund. Section 201.15, Florida Statutes. The loss in revenue could greatly impact the trust funds mentioned above and also cause the surtax for Dade County to be reduced.

to sever legal title from equitable ownership, partnerships and corporations are separate business entities, which can, and often do, hold title to land in their <u>own</u> right. <u>See</u>, Section 620.8203, Fla. Stat. [property acquired by a partnership is property of the partnership and not of the partners individually] and Section 620.149, Fla. Stat. [partnership interest is personalty]. There is no competent evidence to support a finding of fact that trust was ever created.

B. AFFIRMING THE TRIAL AND APPELLATE COURTS DOES <u>NOT</u> REQUIRE A FINDING THAT THE 1990 AMENDMENT SUPERCEDED PRIOR LAW.

In arguing that consideration is <u>limited to</u> "money paid or agreed to be paid; the discharge of an obligation, and the amount of any mortgage, purchase money mortgage lien, or other encumbrance," Petitioner fails to satisfactorily address the **plain language** of the 1990 amendment. The statute clearly and unambiguously provides that consideration "includes, but is not limited to" these narrow categories of property.

The first rule of statutory construction is to follow the plain language of the statute. St. Petersburg Bank & Trust Co. v. Hamm, 414 So.2d 1071, 1073 (Fla.1982). Where the language employed by the Legislature is plain and unambiguous, there is no need to resort to rules of construction.

In the 1990 amendment, the Legislature clearly and unambiguously provided that consideration is <u>not</u> limited to money

or debt instruments. The 1990 amendment **clarified** that any property which is determined to have pecuniary value (e.g., money, debt instruments, equity securities, etc.) can constitute "consideration."

But even if, arguendo, the Court were to find that the language of the amended statute remained ambiguous, then, the holding below would still be correct, under any of several well-established rules of statutory construction.

It is well-established that the "administrative construction of a statute by the agency or body charged with its administration is entitled to great weight and will not be overturned unless clearly erroneous." (Emphasis Supplied). Fort Pierce Util. Auth. v. Florida Public Service Comm'n, 388 So.2d 1031, 1035 (Fla.1980); State ex rel. Biscayne Kennel Club v. Board of Business Regulation, 276 So.2d 823, 828 (Fla.1973); Pan Am. World Airways, Inc. v. Florida Public Serv. Comm'n, 427 So.2d 716, 719 (Fla.1983).

The Department has never interpreted consideration to be limited to money or debt securities. Even <u>before</u> the 1990 amendment, the Department's rules provided that consideration was <u>not</u> limited to money or debt securities. For example, in its <u>1989</u> rules, the Department had already defined consideration to include the "value of <u>any</u> real or personal property given in exchange for realty" or "any other monetary consideration or

consideration which has a reasonable determinable pecuniary value." Fla. Admin. Code Rule 12B-4.012 (1989) (emphasis supplied).

Another applicable rule of statutory construction is that Courts should avoid any interpretation of the statutes which would lead to an absurd or unreasonable result. State v. Webb, 398 So.2d 820 (Fla.1981); Smith v. Ryan, 39 So.2d 281 (Fla.1949). Petitioner's argument would lead to an absurd result because, under Petitioner's analysis, a "boat, car or guitar" would constitute "consideration" whereas \$22 million in stock or in limited partnership shares would not constitute consideration. Petitioner's Brief, at page 42.

There is no factual basis to support Petitioner's underlying contention: that the Legislature intended to exclude equity securities from the statutory definition of "consideration."

The word "consideration" has long been a linchpin of contract law, where it has never been limited to a particular class or category of property.

Petitioner's definition of "property" also runs contrary to this Court's statement in <u>DeMaria</u> that *any* "exchangeable value" can be used by a "purchaser" as "consideration." It runs contrary to the federal documentary stamp tax authorities discussed previously. And, it runs contrary to the ordinary dictionary definition of "consideration," which is contained

within Webster's Ninth New Collegiate Dictionary (1983). That dictionary defines "consideration" to mean any "payment or recompense."

There is no need for this Court to determine that the 1990 Amendment "superseded" prior case law, in order to affirm the holdings below. Petitioner's view that the term "consideration" is synonymous with "money or debt instruments" was never the law, and if any doubt existed that this was never the law, the Legislature eliminated that doubt, in 1990, by specifically amending Section 201.02(1), Florida Statutes (1991).

The 1990 amendment not only "codifies" prior case law, as Petitioner asserts, but has also **clarified** the statute. The statute is now more clear than before that "consideration" includes "but is not limited to" various types of property and that consideration can be property "other than money."

Finally, Petitioner's reliance upon Section 201.02(5), Florida Statutes (1987) ("the 1987 amendment") is misplaced. Petitioner erroneously argues, based upon this statute, that the 1987 Legislature intended to tax partnership distributions, but not partnership contributions.

But the **1987** Legislature was not thinking about the **1998**<u>Kuro</u> issue, one way or the other. No one back in 1987 could have foreseen the 1998 decision in <u>Kuro</u>, or what it would do to Florida's tax base.

Instead, the 1987 Legislature solely intended to create an exception to the 1956 holding, in Palmer-Florida, that partnership distributions were not taxable. The exchange of land for shares or other personalty was already taxable, and did not require an amendment.

C. PETITIONER'S RULE CHALLENGE ARGUMENT SHOULD BE REJECTED BECAUSE NO RULE CHALLENGE WAS BROUGHT BELOW.

On page 48 of its Brief on the Merits, Petitioner argues that Florida Administrative Code Rules 12B-4.012 and 12B-4.013, which implement Section 201.02, Florida Statutes (1991), are "over broad and unauthorized." However, the Trial Court solely found that the Department's rule position was not "clearly erroneous" as applied to the particular facts of this case. It never reached the broader question of whether the Department's rules are "over broad and unauthorized" as applied to different facts than those which had been presented.

It must be remembered that Petitioner never exhausted the administrative remedy of instituting a rule challenge proceeding below, pursuant to Section 120.56, Florida Statutes (1997). The doctrine of exhaustion of administrative remedies precludes judicial intervention in executive branch decision making where administrative procedures can afford the relief a litigant seeks.

See, State, Marine Fisheries Com'n v. Organized Fishermen of Florida, 675 So. 2d 933 (Fla.1st DCA 1996) See Key Haven

Associated Enters. v. Board of Trustees of the Internal

Improvement Trust Fund, 427 So. 2d 153, 157 (Fla. 1982) (limiting

litigants wishing to contest the validity of agency action to

administrative remedies and direct appeal), superseded on other

grounds as noted in Bowen v. Florida Dep't of Envtl. Regulation,

448 So. 2d 566, 568-69 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984), approved and adopted,

472 So. 2d 460 (Fla. 1985); State ex rel. Dep't of Gen. Servs. v.

Willis, 344 So. 2d 580, 589 (Fla. 1st DCA 1977); see also Art. V,

§§ 5(b) and 20(c)(3), Fla. Const.

It is improper, if administrative remedies are adequate,
"to seek relief in the circuit court before those remedies are
exhausted." Communities Fin. Corp. v. Department of Envtl.

Regulation, 416 So. 2d 813, 816 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982); see School

Bd. of Flagler County v. Hauser, 293 So. 2d 681 (Fla. 1974);

Bankers Ins. Co. v. Florida Residential Property & Cas. Joint

Underwriting Ass'n, 689 So. 2d 1127 (Fla. 1st DCA 1997); State,

Dep't of Revenue v. Brock, 576 So. 2d 848 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991);

Friends of the Everglades v. State, Dep't of Envtl. Regulation,

387 So. 2d 511 (Fla. 1st DCA 1980); School Bd. of Leon County v.

Mitchell, 346 So. 2d 562 (Fla. 1st DCA 1977).

Not only did Petitioner fail to institute a rule challenge proceeding in the Division of Administrative Hearings, but it failed to do so in its Circuit Court Complaint. In its prayer for relief, Petitioner solely sought a declaration that it was

entitled to a *tax refund*, and not a more *general declaration* that the Department's rules are invalid and "over broad." R:I;1-4.

The law is clear that issues not raised in the pleadings cannot be presented for the first time on appeal Murphy v City of Port St. Lucie, 666 So. 2d 879 (Fla. 1995). Morales v. Sperry-Rand Corporation, 601 So. 2d 538, 540 (Fla. 1992). The Florida Supreme Court in a case involving taxation explicitly refused to consider a new issue raised for the first time on appeal in Oyster Pointe Resort Condominium Assoc. Inc. v Nolte, 524 So. 2d 415, 418 (Fla. 1988).

The sole issue presented below was whether consideration existed, as applied to the facts of this particular case. The Trial Court and the District Court properly concluded, based upon the facts of this particular case, that Petitioner had issued shares in consideration for land. The sole issues now presented are whether those rulings were correct, and additionally, whether the Kuro decision was incorrect.

Accordingly, the Department does not address whether the 1990 statutory amendment superseded the Supreme Court's decision in <u>Palmer-Florida</u>. As discussed previously, the facts of this case are nothing like the facts in the <u>Palmer-Florida</u> decision. The Department solely maintains that the rulings below were correct and that the <u>Kuro</u> decision was incorrect.

CONCLUSION

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